

Promoting social change through policy-based research in women's health

Gender Planning: Developing an Operational Framework for En-Gendering Healthy Public Policy

Christine Saulnier Sandra Bentley Frances Gregor Georgia MacNeil Thomas Rathwell Erin Skinner

April 1999





This project was funded by Maritime Centre of Excellence for Women's Health (MCEWH). MCEWH is financially supported by the Centres of Excellence for Women's Health Program, Women's Health Bureau, Health Canada. The views expressed herein do not necessarily represent the views of MCEWH or the official policy of Health Canada.

© Copyright is shared between the authors and MCEWH, 1999.



PO Box 3070 Halifax, Nova Scotia B3J 3G9 Canada Telephone 902-420-6725 Toll-free 1-888-658-1112 Fax 902-420-6752 mcewh@dal.ca www.medicine.dal.ca/mcewh The Maritime Centre of Excellence for Women's Health is supported by Dalhousie University, the IWK Health Centre, the Women's Health Bureau of Health Canada, and through generous anonymous contributions.

CONTENTS

Exe	cutive Summary	4
1.0	Introduction and Background	5
2.0	Effecting Changes	5
	2.1 Cabinet Submission Guidelines	
	2.2 Gender Analysis Guides	
	2.2.1 Gender Analysis and the Research 'Stage'	8
	2.3 Economic Gender Equality Indicators	
3.0	Crucial Success Factors	9
	3.1 Political Commitment, Leadership and Champions	
	3.2 Accountability	
	3.3 Monitoring and Evaluation	
	3.4 Education and Training	
	3.5 Public Consultation and Participation	
4.0	Conclusion	13
Glos	ssary	15
Refe	References	
Wor	Works Cited 1	

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The purpose of this paper is to aid in the development of an operational framework for gender planning. Prior to the development of an operational framework, a conceptual framework should be developed. Thus, the companion paper, Gender Mainstreaming: Developing a Conceptual Framework for En-gendering Healthy Public Policy (Saulnier et al., 1999), focuses on conceptual issues. Both papers synthesize national and international lessons learned in regards to these issues. Gender planning, or the development of a plan of action and operational framework for applying the conceptual framework, is the subject of this paper. Gender planning facilitates the process of institutional change from gender-neutral to gender-sensitive policies and programs.

This paper argues that when developing a gender planning process, one must be clear about what needs to be changed and what realistically can be changed. Gender planning aims to make changes at various levels; for it to be most effective it should be aimed at different levels and include several programs. For example, employment equity, pay equity and other affirmative action programs are parallel strategies that should be in place before introducing a gender mainstreaming strategy. Integral to developing an operational framework to mainstream gender is the development of tools, guides, and other initiatives. This paper examines initiatives designed to effect change and to support the integration of gender analysis into mainstream policies and programs, including 'how-to' guides, cabinet submission guidelines and economic indicators.

There are several limitations to formalizing cabinet submission guidelines to require gender analysis. Cabinet documents are secret, and the lack of transparency could pose a problem. There needs to be a champion of these guidelines at the table with political clout. Further, this strategy is demand-driven and under-resourced ministries are often forced into a reactive role. To optimize the effectiveness of 'how-to' guides, certain 'stages' of the policy process must be targeted (e.g., the screening and developmental or design stages). However, the effectiveness of the gender based analysis depends on the information or research used to answer the questions in these 'stages' and throughout the policy process. Other challenges include addressing the gap between academic researchers, community researchers and policy makers. Moreover, there is a lack of both qualitative and quantitative data and a need for better uptake of policy research that already exists. Finally, there is a need for ongoing development of comprehensive indicators that can monitor and evaluate progress, thus the role of economic gender equality indicators (EGEI) is examined.

The last section of this paper clarifies the role and importance of core elements or success factors, including the need for adequate resources, political commitment, leadership and champions, education and training, public consultation and participation, accountability, and monitoring and evaluation measures. Successful training and education measures will both raise awareness and enhance skill development by increasing policy makers sensitivity and technical capacity to integrate gender concerns in to the policy making process. Monitoring and evaluation are key components for assessing the effectiveness of gender management system initiatives in achieving their objectives. There should be a combination of rewards and sanctions focused on achieving particular results or accountability measures because, in their absence, the process will not proceed systematically.

This paper also examines the importance of not just doing gender analysis but of changing or adapting the way that policy is made, so that women's voices and concerns are heard and so that existing research about women's needs is reflected in the policy making process.

1.0 Introduction and Background

The purpose of this paper is to aid in the development of an operational framework for the Gender Equity Lens Project (GEL).1 The paper Gender Mainstreaming: Developing a conceptual framework for En-Gendering Healthy Public Policy (Saulnier et al., 1999) serves as a companion to this one and focuses on conceptual issues. Both the operational and conceptual frameworks are integral to a Gender Management System (GMS). A GMS, a term coined by the Commonwealth Secretariat, is "an integrated web of structures, mechanisms, procedures and management processes put in place within a given institutional framework for the purpose of guiding, managing and monitoring the process of gender integration into mainstream policies, plans and programs in order to bring about gender equality and equity" (Matlin, 1998). Gender planning, or the development of a plan of action and operational framework, is the subject of this paper. Gender planning "consists of developing and implementing specific measures and organizational arrangements for the promotion of gender equality and ensuring that adequate resources are earmarked. It means identifying how to mainstream" (ILO, 1995).

A variety of jurisdictional and policy sectorspecific gender analysis guides and other initiatives have been developed across Canada and internationally.² Their effectiveness and impact in Canada (whether federal or provincial/ territorial) are difficult to discern because this kind of analysis is still in its infancy. The GEL project conducted an extensive literature review on gender analysis 'tools' and gender initiatives, and this paper synthesizes this literature. Beyond documentary research, the crucial part of any exercise such as this is to get those who have developed and/or used gender analysis 'tools' and guides to report their findings and misgivings. In this regard, and as a companion to this paper, interviews were

conducted with some key policy makers. These findings are presented in Lessons from the Field: Policy Makers on Gender-Based Analysis Tools in Canada (Skinner et al., 1998).

This paper identifies operational barriers and challenges to operationalizing a gender analysis framework and synthesizes major findings about how to effectively deal with them by examining some strategies used thus far. Initiatives designed to support the integration of gender analysis into mainstream policies and programs, including cabinet submission guidelines, economic gender equality indicators (EGEI), and 'how-to' guides, are critically examined, exposing both their potential and limitations. Recognizing that the policy-making process is somewhat rational but mostly political, this paper focuses not only on the technical matters such as acquiring reliable data, comprehensive research, and skill development etc., but on political factors and attempts to affect change. In the latter case, this means that resistance will surface in many forms. Thus, this analysis initially focuses on the nature of the policy-making process and bureaucracy, and on the need for adopting realistic strategies to affect change.

2.0 Affecting Changes

When developing a gender planning process, it must be clear what needs to be changed, what realistically can be changed and what can be changed in the short term as compared to the long term. It is important to recognize the fragility and the need for continual reinforcement of gains and to develop "(r)ealistic strategies ... based on concrete, incremental steps that are selected in light of long-term goals" (Schalkwyk et al., 1996, p. 17). Moreover, a change in structure, e.g., bureaucracy or programing, is not the sole answer to what is essentially a problem of attitude, behavior, and expertise. At the same time, interim reporting mechanisms and analytic tools must support

measures to change behavior and attitudes in the long run (McLaren et al., 1995). For example, in 1993, the Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA) had problems in implementing its policy because it focused on changing attitudes and behavior and did not address structural considerations. CIDA refocused its policy on measurable results in programing and increased accountability measures. The CIDA policy overestimated the incentive effect of using a performance appraisal system and underestimated the intensity of both incentives and accountability systems needed to change professional behavior (McLaren et al., 1995).

Gender planning seeks to make changes at various levels. For it to be most effective, it should be aimed at all of the following levels: individual, societal, structural and systemic, as well as the policy and planning process itself. Commitments aimed at integrating gender into mainstream policies and programs include many initiatives. However, there is some confusion about the relationship of these initiatives to earlier attempts aimed at addressing the status of women. For example, in Justice Canada's gender equality initiative, there was confusion in the department between gender equality initiatives and their relation to employment equity (McLaren et al., 1995, p. 9). Employment equity is a program that works to ensure that women and other identified "equity" groups are fairly represented in the labor force. However, it is a policy aimed only at "adding" women to the institution and not specifically at challenging the nature of the institution and the reasons for the under-representation in the first place. Underlying employment equity programs is the principle that everyone should have a fair chance to find employment, to receive promotion, and to reach his/her potential without discrimination. Yet certain groups, including women, Aboriginal people, people with disabilities, and visible minorities, still face discrimination in hiring and promotion (Canadian Human Rights Commission, 1998). Employment equity programs highlight the need for systemic and structural changes. As New Zealand's Ministry of Women's Affairs (MWA) observed, one problem in the bureaucracy is its hierarchical nature, with a disproportionate number of men at the top and a concentration of women at lower levels. Other blockages exist because of the appointment of lone women who lack support or power (MWA, 1991). Employment equity, pay equity and other affirmative action programs are parallel strategies that should be in place before gender mainstreaming strategies. Nonetheless, one does not replace the other.

When considering how to affect change, one must understand that the nature of the policy process and the bureaucracy dictate that changes are gradual and slow. Moreover, the policy process is affected by geographic location, timing, recent events (local to global), future prospects, economic climate, current trends and ideas, and the fundamental values of the participants and of society in general (Majury, 1998). However, by favoring the gender planning method, developing guides, etc., it is assumed that the policy process should be more rational. The British Columbia Ministry of Women's Equality's guide suggests that a thorough analysis of women's needs and circumstances can and should be included as a routine element in policy development and evaluation across the government. In other words, gender analysis guides and training offer a "better" way to do policy and existing practices should be changed so that gender analysis becomes a standard, integral part of the policy process (Teghtsoonian, 1996). However, gender issues hold a particular challenge specific to them; gender issues can be personalized and this may intensify resistance to doing gender analysis. Some strategies for gender planning and supporting gender analysis are examined

below, including the development of cabinet submission guidelines, gender analysis guides, and economic indicators to assess progress.

2.1 CABINET SUBMISSION GUIDELINES

In British Columbia, for all cabinet submissions, "the impact of a policy option on women must be analyzed ... and, where appropriate, in specific groups of women ... the analysis should consider whether the policy choice supports equality for women" (Government of British Columbia, 1993, p. 15). These guidelines are designed to encourage those who need to do the screening to use the gender analysis analytical tool and consult with the Ministry of Women's Equality. Like B.C., other jurisdictions (i.e., Yukon, Newfoundland) have instituted cabinet submission guidelines that require gender analysis of all documents submitted to cabinet. Formalizing the use of gender analysis through government-wide cabinet submission guidelines while a positive step to ensuring that the analysis is included, does not ensure that the analysis shapes the policy outcome. Also, the gender analysis component of these submissions is often "too brief or superficial to identify underlying gender dimensions" (Skinner et al., 1998, p. 7-8).

There are several limitations to formalizing cabinet submission guidelines to require gender analysis. Successful planning requires that the initiative be monitored and evaluated. One problem of relying on cabinet submission guidelines is that for this tool to be most effective, there needs to be transparency in doing the analysis. Transparency is required for accountability, monitoring and evaluation. However, neither cabinet documents nor committee discussions are routinely made public. Second, targeting cabinet means that the implementation of gender analysis might depend on the political clout of the individual minister in charge of the lead agency (Teghtsoonian, 1996; Skinner et al., 1998).

While this is not always a barrier, having such a minister at the cabinet table is not always possible. Moreover, in Canada, aside from the federal Status of Women Canada, only British Columbia has a free-standing ministry with its own minister (Ministry of Women's Equality). Finally, cabinet submission guidelines are more demand-driven and are thought to force the ministry responsible for developing the analysis or coordinating it into a reactive role. For example, when there is a need to do the analysis, the Status of Women or the Ministry of Women's Equality will be contacted. Given that these ministries or lead agencies are often under-resourced, it is difficult for staff to meet all demands. Other measures such as guides could play an important role in mainstreaming gender in policy.

2.2 GENDER ANALYSIS GUIDES

Integral to developing an operational framework to mainstream gender is the development of tools, guides, and other initiatives. Guides embody a 'how to' approach in a somewhat flexible document and are not as prescriptive as a tool. A 'tool' is more of a checklist and downplays the complexity of both gender analysis and the policy process itself.

Using a gender lens guide or gender analysis analytical framework to implement gender analysis facilitates the process of doing policy analysis because it is not seen as providing the answer. It is a focusing device, not a checklist (Teghtsoonian, 1996, p. 17). Gender analysis guides enable policy analysts to identify how a policy option might affect men and women differently. Using gender analysis guides can ultimately "extend the promise of a more inclusive and equitable approach to policy making ... they have the potential to foster a real improvement in the fit between the policies and services developed by government and the realities of all women's [and girls] lives" (Teghtsoonian, 1996, p. 38). Unlike tools or

checklists, which generally appear inappropriate or patronizing, these frameworks provide guidance on which options would be more equitable (McKinlay, 1993). Tools were the predecessors to guides.

However, even guides are not sufficient for mainstreaming gender. Thus other initiatives such as training and professional development are required. These are examined below.

2.2.1 Gender Analysis and the Research 'Stage'

In gender analysis guides, certain 'stages' of the policy process are targeted as crucial for the effectiveness of the analysis. The SWC guide indicates that gender analysis must be included or introduced in the developmental stages of a policy. In the early stages of policy development, introduction of gender analysis is "more efficient and potentially less costly in human and social terms for women" (SWC, 1995, p. 17). Similarly, McKinlay in New Zealand concluded it is crucial to do gender analysis during the design stage of a policy when policy options are developed, especially before the parameters of the "policy have been set" (1993, p. 4). The other crucial 'stage' or step is screening, where the question 'whether it will have gender specific impact' is asked. However, whether the analysis is used throughout the policy process and whether the analysis is adequate, depends on the information or research used to answer the questions in these 'stages' and throughout the policy process. Indeed, "(a)ll subsequent stages in the GBA process ... are dependent on the research used" (Bélanger and Regehr, 1998, p. 2).

GBA has been accompanied by "an increasing recognition within the federal government of the importance of policy research as a prerequisite for good policy and planning" (Bélanger and Regehr, 1998, p. 3). The research needed is "research whose primary focus

is linked to the public policy agenda, and whose results are useful to the development of public policies that promote women's equality" (Bélanger and Regehr, 1998, p. 4). There is also a need for multidisciplinary and multifactorial health research now that many jurisdictions acknowledge that health should be approached through a determinants perspective that recognizes that a broad range factors affect people's health status, not just biological factors. However, policy makers and those who are to use gender analysis guides face challenges posed by the lack of adequate or appropriate research and by the gap between academic researchers and policy makers.

While several recent initiatives deal with these issues, including the SWC's Policy Research Fund and the Centres of Excellence for Women's Health, there are problems that need to be overcome for the effective uptake of research into the policy process. Ponée (1998) argues that good research exists without the policy uptake, while some policies are implemented without enough knowledge about how best to proceed.

The gap between academic researchers, the community, and policy makers that needs to be addressed. There is some misunderstanding and lack of willingness to understand each others' concerns, ways of working, etc. Some researchers, for example, are concerned about the integrity of their research process because when their research is funded primarily to inform policy, the government agenda could set the research agenda. Also, policy makers and researchers often have incompatible timetables; the research process is much slower and thus policy decisions are often not based on the evidence.

In developing strategies to address to these barriers one must recognize that "(t)he determinants of women's health research parallel the determinants of women's health: structural more so than behaviourial" (Ponée, 1998, p. 13). There is a lack of both qualitative and quantitative data as well as a need for better uptake of policy research. Finally, there is a need for ongoing development of comprehensive indicators to monitor and to evaluate progress. The following section examines the development of economic gender equality indicators.

2.3 ECONOMIC GENDER EQUALITY INDICATORS

Economic gender equality indicators (EGEI) have been developed to support gender mainstreaming initiatives, and in response to challenges posed by the lack of appropriate research. EGEIs provide a strong information base and research resource on which to make decisions and can be used to evaluate outcomes. These social indicators are designed to measure well-being or quality of life. The Federal-Provincial/Territorial Ministers Responsible for the Status of Women (FPT) initiated development of EGEIs to monitor progress toward gender equality in economic well-being (FPT, 1997). These indicators highlight economic disparities and inequalities between men and women. They are relational, focusing on the power relationship between men and women. Where possible, they attempt to reflect the situation of women according to age, education, occupation, and employment characteristics (McCracken and Scott, 1998).

EGEIs are 'objective' measures that provide information necessary to make 'evidence-based' decisions and to assess outcomes. Both of these functions are increasingly seen as integral to government decision making. However, the 'evidence' in 'evidence-based decision making' must be both qualitative and quantitative. EGEIs alone cannot provide the complete picture; it requires more qualitative or subjective dimensions. Consultation is a fundamental means of collecting qualitative data and should be integral to a gender mainstreaming strategy.

This issue is discussed below as a critical success factor when gender planning.

3.0 Crucial Success Factors

While it is not possible to deal with all the challenges faced when gender planning, there are certain core elements or success factors that must be integrated into gender planning strategies such as guides, EGEI, etc. Probably the most critical success factor is to provide sufficient resources for these initiatives and to allocate an adequate budget and staff. Staffing includes the need for expertise and skills training. As Teghtsoonian (1996) points out, government downsizing counters this need. Thus, staffing policies must also undergo gender analysis. In times of cutbacks, staff may perceive gender analysis to be too complex and only adding to their overwork. However, gender analysis cannot be an 'add-on'. Eventually, it will be seen as a routine part of policy making. This success factor, while critical, may also be one of the most formidable tasks to achieve because of the resistance to sufficiently resource these initiatives. However, "(t)his interest in gender analysis also fits within the overall public demand on governments everywhere for greater public accountability for policy design and outcomes; when resources are limited, costly mistakes are ill-afforded" (Bélanger and Regehr, 1998, p. 1).

Other success factors include (but are not limited to) political commitment, leadership and champions within the organization, education and training, accountability, monitoring and evaluation, education and training, and public consultation and participation. Each of these factors is discussed below in turn.

3.1 Political Commitment, Leadership and Champions

There are certain developments that lend some optimism to the possibility of implementing these gender analysis strategies. There has been some social change in Canada as a whole as a result of the Charter of Rights and Freedoms. Canada has also made certain international commitments, and there is a legal framework for moving forward on these initiatives. In Canada, the legal framework that promotes women's rights also includes federal, provincial and territorial human rights legislation and commissions, and employment equity legislation. Canada has endorsed numerous global plans of actions and conventions, including the 1995 Commonwealth Plan of Action on Gender and Development, the Charter of the United Nations, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW), and the Beijing Platform for Action from the Fourth World Conference on Women. The Canadian government, in preparing for Beijing and the Fourth World Conference on Women, developed a federal plan of action for gender equality. This plan, Setting the Stage for the Next Century: The Federal Plan for Gender, is "both a statement of commitments and a framework for the future" (SWC, 1995, p. i). In this document the federal government sets out its proposal for implementing gender based-analysis (GBA) throughout its departments and agencies. The federal government has made a political commitment toward gender planning by proposing to:

- develop and apply tools and methodologies for carrying out gender-based analysis;
- train policy makers on gender-based analysis of legislation and policies;
- develop indicators to assess progress made toward gender equality;

- collect and use gender-disaggregated data as appropriate;
- use gender-sensitive language throughout the federal government; and
- evaluate the effectiveness of the genderbased analysis process (SWC, 1995, pp. 17-18).

However, the federal government's commitment to GBA only specifically ensures that "all future legislation and policies include, where appropriate, an analysis of the potential for different impacts on women and men" (SWC, 1995, p. 17; emphasis added). While providing the flexibility that policy analysts may require to do their job, this proposal neither provides an incentive to do GBA, nor a penalty if it is not done. The decision to do the analysis is left to the discretion of individual departments. Only when it is learned that policies may differentially affect men and women will it be "appropriate" for a consistent application of GBA. Put this way, individual departments and agencies will be disinclined to do the analysis. Moreover, the legal status of these international agreements, political commitments and their impact on other jurisdictions, particularly provincial or territorial, is not always clear. This is especially the case in the area of health and related social programs which constitutionally fall under provincial jurisdiction. There is some difficulty achieving horizontal (across sectors) support, co-operation and collaboration because of the hierarchical or vertical nature of organizations and the competing interests within and between sectors and iurisdictions.

The federal government is attempting to promote multi-sectoral decision making as it recognizes that not all issues fit into one department or sector. However, obtaining political commitment at the highest levels of government is just as important as securing cooperation between different ministries or

departments and between these ministries and stakeholders (Matlin, 1998). The level of commitment to these initiatives is reflected in the amount of authority (e.g., strong clear policy and objectives), resources (e.g., financial and staff), and degree of institutionalization (e.g., co-operation among departments) that gender planning receives (Roberts, 1996). While it may not be enough to ensure the success of gender planning, a lack of senior or even middle management commitment can hamper the effectiveness of gender mainstreaming. Gender planning "marks a major change in the institutional customs and culture of government apparatus," and thus depends on the acceptance of senior management to enact procedures that will ensure it is followed through (SCF, 1998, p. 18). For all of these reasons leadership and high-level commitment to these initiatives is important.

Equally important are champions of advancing the objectives of gender equality who are well-placed in the bureaucracy and in a particular organization or agency. For example, the gender initiatives at the World Bank were significantly advanced when the President of the World Bank (Wolfenson) publicly addressed women's issues and increased attention paid to gender issues by requesting annual progress reports (Williams, 1997). The same can be said of the gender initiatives of the former federal Minister of Justice Kim Campbell (McLaren et al., 1995). However, as important as champions are, the initiatives must outlast the champion.

Whether there is sufficient political commitment and leadership on these issues is reflected in management's ability to hold staff accountable for gender planning. Thus it is important to examine accountability as a success factor.

3.2 ACCOUNTABILITY

Women's Eyes on the World Bank argues that even when gender analysis and participatory processes are conducted "the absence of any accountability mechanisms often results in a failure of this analysis" (Williams, 1997, p. 3). The purpose of accountability is to ensure that whoever is responsible for a policy or program meets the publicly stated goals. This requires clear and explicitly stated goals and objectives. Governments are accountable for evaluating outcomes as compared to stated goals. Ultimately the government is accountable to the women who are affected by its policies and programs; within an agency employees are accountable to colleagues and supervisors. It is important to set clear goals to measure how well they have met their objectives and what the outcomes have been, where the lines of accountability are, and what accountability measures are in place (Volunteer Sector Roundtable, 1998).

There is a need for a combination of rewards and sanctions focused on achieving particular results or accountability measures. These could include building responsibility into job descriptions, work plans, programing guidelines, performance evaluations, and regular reporting mechanisms (McLaren et al., 1995). The greatest challenge to invoking these mechanisms is that they make those doing the analysis vulnerable and thus produce defensive responses. A monitoring plan and evaluation framework are important tools in decreasing the likelihood of such responses.

3.3 Monitoring and Evaluation

Effective gender analysis of policies and programs is crucial for avoiding inadequate design. To ensure that policies and programs have the intended effect, their outcomes must be evaluated. There needs to be monitoring to ensure that GBA is not used as a cover to avoid committing resources and/or marginalizing it, i.e., restricting GBA to women-specific policies or using it to approve gender-neutral policies. A monitoring and evaluation plan allows for

regular periodic review of progress (monitoring) and shows the changes that have occurred (evaluation) as a result of project activities. Monitoring is tracking whether the project is moving in the right direction. Evaluation generally assesses the amount of change in key indicators between the beginning and the end of the project or/and points in between. Evaluation involves assessing the whole project, the linkages between components and levels, and can include some type of cost-benefit analysis (Caro and Lambert, 1994).

One of the challenges to monitoring and evaluating GBA initiatives is to discern how to measure approaches aimed at mainstreaming gender. The evaluation system must measure whether projects actually address gender inequities and meet women's needs. It should not simply evaluate whether policies and projects contain gender-related actions and "address gender" (Williams, 1997, p. 3). Often, objectives are written to focus on the policy process, not their affect on women.

Integral to the evaluation process is the ability to measure outcomes. Outcomes depend on the scope of the commitment, the given objectives, and the implementation process. Longterm outcomes are difficult to measure. Shortterm outcomes are often more process-oriented and sometimes involve institutional change which is more easily measured. Clearly, both (short term) process and (long term) outcome evaluation are important and go hand in hand. It is important to recognize the difficulty in measuring the outcomes and impact of longterm goals including achieving gender equity and improving women's health status. However, policy makers must ensure that shortterm goals work towards these ends. In terms of changing the way policy makers work, one short-term goal is to institute education and training programs aimed at developing skills and gender awareness.

3.4 EDUCATION AND TRAINING

Change in structures is not the sole answer to what is essentially a problem of attitude, behavior, and expertise. Thus, structures and reporting mechanisms and analytic tools are interim and supporting measures to change behavior and attitudes in the long run (McLaren, 1995, p. 15). A key to a successful gender planning process is a comprehensive training and education program focused on raising gender awareness, skill development, and attitudinal change. The gender analysis guides, by their nature, assume that the omission of gender considerations is both due to oversight and lack of skill. As Majury (1998) found, in government, the level of gender analysis is fairly simplistic: considerable education is needed and values need to be shifted.

The strategies developed will depend on the level of awareness and skills of individuals applying the strategy. Gender awareness or sensitivity training is about realizing the importance of gender as a significant variable and recognizing when an issue has gender implications. To try to raise awareness about gender bias and discrimination is extremely sensitive because it has personal and behaviorial implications. It is difficult to discuss and is often avoided (McLaren et al., 1995).

Skills development workshops aim to instil the ability to realize when an issue will have a differentially negative impact on women or when differences should be accommodated, and how to actually do the analysis, including when to seek assistance and consult with others. Workshops would differ in content depending on their purpose and audience; the components must cover both conceptual and operational issues. Workshops would introduce key concepts and analysis, teach 'how to' skills and, the most difficult but most important part, challenge attitudes. In addition, there must be ongoing time and energy spent on training and

follow-up. There is a need for both specialized training and routine training because a few days of training is insufficient to enable competency or to change attitudes (Oxfam, 1995).

3.5 Public Consultation and Participation

Consulting with women's groups and other nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) is one of the key elements or success factors that should be integrated in the policy planning process. These groups should be involved at all stages, from developing gender analysis guides to implementing training and education programs, to holding the government accountable, and to evaluating the effectiveness of these initiatives. Indeed, there is some evidence that the government now recognizes the need to consult and be in contact with the "real world" when making policy (Ponée, 1998, p. 6). The federal plan for gender equality acknowledges the work of women's organizations in achieving gender equality and the importance of community groups and NGOs as partners in the "quest for an equitable society" (SWC, 1995, p. i). Nonetheless, no specific plan of action is offered that recognizes not only the importance of consulting women's groups and women, but of creating an environment that allows for a more participatory process.

This is significant because, as Women's Eyes on the World Bank revealed, the lack of systematic genuine participation of NGOs is a key barrier to the advancement of World Bank initiatives. Accordingly, participation is an essential element and means to explicitly address gender concerns (Williams, 1997). But, there needs to be systematic, genuine participation wherein all stakeholders are active decision makers engaged at each stage of the policy or project. Currently, women's groups are reacting to government policy. All their time, energy and resources are devoted to dealing with "the

consequences of government policy which does not accurately reflect the different realities of men's and women's lives" (NBWRC, 1998, p. 5). For genuine participation to occur, there is a need to offer useful and specific measures to address gender-specific constraints on women's participation such as cultural and legal barriers, and women's relative lack of time and mobility due to their heavy workloads and multiple roles.

4.0 Conclusion

This paper outlines the importance of matching the means with the ends; taking into consideration the challenges when making a commitment to implementing a gender management system or initiative such as developing gender analysis guides, when using strategies such as cabinet submissions guidelines, and when developing indicators such as EGEIs. To change the way policies and programs are developed, implemented and evaluated requires understanding that change in the policy process and bureaucracy is gradual and slow. Gender planning strategies are not so much end-products as they are processes that contribute to the long-term goal of improving women's health status and ensuring their equitable treatment and benefit from healthy public policies and programs. We can overcome many barriers and develop strategies of least resistance for gender planning, but we must recognize that the structural/systemic and cultural barriers are larger than individual ones. However, individuals are not insignificant, especially when it comes to gender analysis.

To develop a gender analysis guide is a small, albeit important part of gender planning and thus of a gender management system. The guide should never stand alone; it should be accompanied by adequate resources, political commitment, leadership and champions,

accountability, monitoring and evaluation measures, and education and training. While teaching 'how to' skills and providing appropriate materials are important, training must also be about changing attitudes and behaviors. The actual development and consultation process plays a key role in garnering support and compiling information and expertise. This speaks to the importance of not just doing gender analysis, but changing or adapting the way that policy is made so that women's voices and concerns are heard and so that existing research about women's needs is reflected in policy and programs.

Unless these factors or core components are integrated into gender planning strategies, there will be no significant progressive impact on women's health and no significant changes in the position or condition of women. Rather, we may only succeed (as the World Bank has done) to integrate "gender analysis activities" at the level of planning and policy making and produce reports that serve only as reference documents with no significant action plan attached to them (Williams, 1997).

GLOSSARY

Employment equity refers to the provision of practical remedies for the under-representation or concentration of, and employment barriers to, certain groups of people, including women, persons with disabilities, Aboriginal people, and visibility minorities.

Gender is a sociocultural variable that refers to the comparative, relational, or differential roles, responsibilities, and activities assigned to females and males. Gender is relational in that it identifies the relationship between men and women. Gender refers to the social characteristics and culturally prescribed roles of men and women, but are not bound to either men or women. These roles vary among societies and over time. Gender roles are what a society or culture constructs and prescribes as proper roles, behavior and personal identities, wherein that which is associated with women is feminine, with men is masculine, with the latter given more hierarchical value.

Gender analysis is a method to collect and analyzing information regarding the different needs and concerns of women, to address the barriers that have disadvantaged them. As an analytical framework, it is used to identify gender roles and to systematically study the different conditions and positions of women and girls versus men and boys.

Gender bias refers to providing differential treatment when it is ill-founded or unjustified; it has come to refer to favoring men as a gender.

Gender equality refers to treating men and women the same and attaining equal conditions for women to be able to contribute and to benefit politically, economically, socially and culturally; women are thus empowered as agents of change.

Gender equity refers to treating men and women differently, or the same when appropriate, to achieve outcomes that satisfy the needs of both.

Gender mainstreaming is an approach that considers why gender analysis is *integral* to the policy and program process, and incorporates women's views and priorities into the *core* of policy decisions, institutional structures and resource allocations. It is the conceptualizing stage of a gender management system.

Gender Management System (GMS) refers an integrated web of structures, mechanisms and procedures put in place within a given institutional framework for the purpose of guiding, managing and monitoring the process of gender integration into mainstream policies, plans and programs in order to bring about gender equality and equity.

Gender neutral to ignore or not take into account sex composition and/or gender characteristics

Gender planning the development of a plan of action and operational framework for applying the conceptual framework, it facilitates the process of institutional change from gender-neutral to gender-sensitive policies and programs by developing and implementing specific measures and organizational arrangements for the promotion of gender equality.

Sex is an analytical category that distinguishes males and females based on biological characteristics; the categories are mutually exclusive and exhaustive and the sexes are not interchangeable. Sex roles are universal; they do not change over time, nor do they change depending on their context.

REFERENCES

- 1. This project was funded by the Maritime Centre of Excellence for Women's Health. The project team consisted of Tom Rathwell (Team Leader), Sandy Bentley, Frances Gregor and Georgia MacNeil. Erin Skinner was a research assistant. Christine Saulnier was project coordinator from April to September 1998.
- 2. For an overview of the guides and tools see the annotated bibliography by Saulnier et al. (1998). For a summary of Canadian (federal and provincial/territorial) initiatives, see also Appendix B of Skinner et al. (1998).

WORKS CITED

- Bélanger, S. and Regehr, S. (1998, June 12-13). Engendering public policy: The role of research, statistics and indicators in the public policy process, some examples from Canada. Paper presented at the Women's Policy Research Conference, Washington, DC.
- Canadian Human Rights Commission. (1998). Fair play at work. Ottawa: Canadian Human Rights Commission. (Http://www.chra.ca/equity/english/documents/factsheet.htm)
- Caro, D. A., and Lambert, V. (1994, August). Gender in monitoring and evaluation: a tool for developing project [monitoring and evaluation] plans. Washington, DC: USAID, Office of Women in Development.
- Federal-Provincial/Territorial Ministers Responsible for the Status of Women (FPT). (1997). Economic gender equality indicators. Ottawa: Status of Women Canada.
- Government of British Columbia. (1993). Guide to the cabinet committee system. Victoria: Government of British Columbia.
- Grace, J. (1998). "Sending mixed messages: gender-based analysis and the 'status of women'." Canadian Public Administration (Special Issue and Gender and Public Administration), 40 (4), 582-598.
- International Labour Organization (ILO). (1995, January). Guidelines for the integration of gender issues into the design, monitoring, and evaluation of ILO programmes and projects. Geneva: Evaluation Unit, Bureau of Programming and Management, ILO.
- Majury, D. (July 1998) Promoting women's health: Making inroads into Canada's health policy. A policy advice framework report for the Centres of Excellence for Women's Health. Ottawa: Women's Health Bureau, Health Canada. (Synthesis)
- Matlin, Stephen, A. (1998). Gender management systems in the health sector. Prepared for Commonwealth Secretariat, London.
- McCracken, M. and Scott, K. (1998, March). Social and economic indicators: Underlying assumptions, purposes, and values. Theme II, Background Paper, Version 1 for the Symposium on Gender Equality Indicators: Public Concerns and Public Policies, Ottawa Symposium.
- McKinlay, R. (1993). Gender analysis of policy. Wellington: Ministry of Women's Affairs, Government of New Zealand. (Draft)
- McLaren, K., Seydegart, M. and Rowe, B. (1995, May). Engendering justice: Report of the organizational planning study of substantive gender equality work in the Department of Justice. Ottawa: South House Exchange.
- Ministry of Women's Affairs (MWA). (1991). CHECKLIST: How to analyze policies and programmes to ensure that they meet women's needs. Wellington: Ministry of Women's Affairs, Government of New Zealand.
- New Brunswick Women's Research Collective (NBWRC). (1998, July). Building a foundation for gender-based analysis in New Brunswick. Fredericton: NBWRC

- Oxfam. (1995). Gender issues in health projects and programmes: Report from AGRA East Meeting, 15-19 November 1993, The Philippines. UK and Ireland: Oxfam.
- Ponée, D. (1998, June 12-13). *Treating women differently*. Paper presented at the Women's Policy Research Conference, Washington, DC.
- Roberts, A. I. (1996). Gender management systems action paper. Prepared for the Commonwealth Secretariat. Paper presented at the Commonwealth Ministers Responsible for Women's Affairs, Fifth Meeting, Port of Spain, Trinidad, and Tobago.
- Saulnier, C., Skinner, E., Bentley, S., Gregor, F., MacNeil, G. and Rathwell, T. (1998, May). Gender equity lens resource document. Halifax: Maritime Centre for Excellence in Women's Health.
- Saulnier, C., Bentley, S., Gregor, F., MacNeil, G., Rathwell, T. and Skinner, E. (1999). Gender mainstreaming: Developing a conceptual framework for en-gendering healthy public policy. Halifax: Maritime Centre of Excellence for Women's Health.
- Secrétariat à la condition féminine (SCF). (1997). Action plan for women throughout Québec 1997-2000. Québec: Secrétariat à la condition féminine.
- Schalkwyk, J., Thomas, H., and Woroniuk, B. (1996, July). Mainstreaming: A strategy for achieving equality between men and women, A think piece. Stockholm: Sida.
- Skinner, E, Saulnier, C., Bentley, S., Gregor, F., MacNeil, G. and Rathwell, T. (1998). Lessons from the field: Policy makers on gender-based analysis tools in Canada. Halifax: Maritime Centre for Excellence in Women's Health.
- Status of Women Canada (SWC). (1995, August). Setting the stage for the next century: The federal plan for gender equality. Ottawa: SWC, Government of Canada.
- Teghtsoonian, K. (1996). Gendering policy analysis in the Governments of British Columbia and New Zealand: Strategies, possibilities and constraints. Victoria: Faculty of Human and Social Development, University of Victoria.
- Voluntary Sector Roundtable. (1998, May). Helping Canadians help Canadians: Improving governance and accountability in the voluntary sector. Panel on Accountability and Governance in the Voluntary Sector, A Discussion Paper. Ottawa: Voluntary Sector Secretariat.
- Williams, L. (Ed.). (1997, October). Gender equity and the World Bank Group: A post-Beijing assessment. Washington: Women's Eyes on the World Bank-U.S.